6/18/2018

Innovative Behavioral Health Strategies for Underserved Populations

Underserved Populations Workgroup FAIRFAX COUNTY GOVERNMENT

Table of Contents

Workgroup Members:ii
Introduction1
Fairfax County Youth Survey Summary Findings1
Data & Methods3
Findings
Access
Access Through Schools5
Access Through Religious Institutions5
Access Through Community Center5
Access Through Other Avenues5
Barriers6
Lack of Knowledge and Understanding6
Lack of Trust with the System6
Stigma/Labels of Mental Illness7
Overworked Employees7
Cultural Concerns7
Additional Barriers
Suggested Strategies
Education8
Community Resources9
Improving County Resources
Other Suggested Strategies10
Discussion
Recommendations
Therapeutic
Prevention13
Marketing/Outreach14
Conclusion14
Appendix A: Reports Reviewed16
Appendix B: Cultural Formulation Interview (CFI)17
Appendix C: List of Radio Stations, Newspapers, and Local Businesses

Workgroup Members:

Elizabeth Petersilia Program Manager Healthy Minds Fairfax

Birgit Snellenburg Program Manager, Youth & Family Outpatient Community Services Board

Ramona Carroll Interfaith Coordinator Neighborhood & Community Services

Jenifer Henry-Jones Community Developer, Region 3 Neighborhood & Community Services

Michael Monahan Clinical Coordinator Department of Family Services Courtney Porter Director, Research & Development Juvenile and Domestic Relations District Court

Jenny Sell Graduate Social Work Intern Healthy Minds Fairfax

Desiree Gordon Management Analyst Healthy Minds Fairfax

Sharon Frost Director of Child Placement Services Northern Virginia Family Services

Kathi Sheffel Homeless & Foster Care Liaison Fairfax County Public Schools

Introduction

Fairfax County's Board of Supervisors authorized the creation the Children's Behavioral Health System of Care. The initiative works to improve the quality of children's behavioral health services and increase families' ability to access services for themselves and their children. Thirty community stakeholders, including Fairfax County Health and Human Service agencies, Fairfax County Public Schools, behavioral health non-profits, family-run organizations and one brave teen worked together in creating the Children's Behavioral Health System of Care Blueprint. The Blueprint charged this workgroup, as part of the Healthy Minds Fairfax (formerly Children's Behavioral Health System of Care) Initiative, to address increasing access and availability to behavioral health services for underserved populations. Of primary concern is the development and implementation of culturally competent strategies in partnership with the community.

Specifically, the Blueprint tasked this workgroup with the following:

- 1. Develop a common definition of "underserved populations;"
- 2. Identify the underserved communities/populations (geographically, age range, etc.);
- 3. Identify main strengths and barriers to providing and accessing behavioral health services; and
- 4. Develop strategies and recommendations to address identified barriers.

After reviewing multiple reports,¹ the workgroup defines underserved populations as

"any child or family, as members of our community in need of behavioral health services, who cannot access those services due to real or perceived barriers. Access issues may also be due to the navigation process for the parent or the child. These barriers and other logistical challenges help to prevent children and families from receiving immediate behavioral health services when needed in a timely manner. Underserved children are not necessarily predicted by socioeconomic status, geography within the community, ethnic group, or access to insurance benefits."

While Fairfax County exhibits a vast network of public and private providers and partnerships, Fairfax County's 2016 Human Services Needs Assessment indicates a lack of accessible and affordable outpatient treatment options. In addition, the report indicated needs around intensive care coordination or case management as well as services for young adults as they age out of the system.² At the same time, Fairfax County's Youth Survey³ and a myriad of other studies and research articles identify pockets of youth from specific cultural and racial groups experiencing more significant behavioral health symptoms and stress than others in our middle and high school populations. These groups include Latina youth, Asian/Pacific Islander girls, and African American girls.

Fairfax County Youth Survey Summary Findings

The workgroup used findings from The Fairfax County Youth Survey to assist in identifying groups for participation in focus groups. These findings are presented below.

¹ See Appendix A for a list of reports reviewed during this process.

² Fairfax County. (May 2016). Fairfax County Human Services: 2016 Needs Assessment

³ Fairfax County. (September 2017). Youth Survey

The annual Youth Survey asks students in 8th, 10th and 12th grade several questions related to mental health and assets that build resiliency. General findings from the 2016 survey indicate 36 percent of students report high levels of stress within the past month; while 26 percent of students report feeling sad or hopeless almost every day for two weeks or more during the past year. Findings on these two indicators differ by race with 39 percent of Asian/Pacific Islanders reporting higher levels of stress compared to Black (31%), Hispanic (34%) students and White (36%) students. Hispanic youth (31%) report feeling sad or hopeless at higher rates than White (24%) or Black (25%) youth. Girls are more likely than boys to report high stress (45%) or feelings of sadness/hopelessness (33%). These levels increase as students get older, with 12th grade respondents (regardless of race or gender) indicating higher levels of stress and feelings of sadness/hopelessness than their younger peers.⁴

Research^{5,6} identifies several "assets that build resiliency." Those included on the Youth Survey include questions around parents available to help; teachers notice and compliment good work; adults are available to talk in the community; extracurricular activities are available in the community; volunteer opportunities; and students recognize accepting responsibility for actions and mistakes is important. Overall, 94 percent of students report availability of extracurricular activities; while, 82 percent of students reported they can ask their parents for help with a personal problem. Seventy-nine percent of students reported accepting responsibility is important and 63 percent reported that their teachers notice and compliment them when they do a good job. Finally, 43 percent of students have adults in their community available to talk.

Research⁷ indicates that youth with three or more assets that build resiliency thrive in health, school, and daily life and are less likely to engage in risky behaviors. Special analyses on data from the 2016 Youth Survey evaluated differences on youth reporting three or more assets by race and gender. For the purposes of this workgroup, special emphasis was placed on youth indicating *less than three assets*, as these students could be considered underserved or in need of services. According to the survey, 17 percent of girls and 18 percent of boys reported less than 3 assets.

The special analysis found over 50 percent of Hispanic, Asian/Pacific Islanders and Other girls indicating less than three assets reported feeling sad or hopeless almost every day for two weeks or more sometime in the last 12 months. Boys with less than three assets across all races were less likely to report feelings of sadness or hopelessness. In addition, the majority of girls (regardless of race) with less than three assets reported higher levels of stress than those with three or more assets to build resiliency. High levels of stress also increase with age for youth having fewer than three assets, with 12th grade girls reporting higher levels of stress than 8th grade girls. Findings for boys with less than three assets followed similar trends for high levels of stress.

⁴ Fairfax County (September 2017) 2016 Youth Survey Highlights. Found at <u>http://www.fairfaxcountyyouthsurvey.com/highlights.php?year=2016&cat=11&grp=I3</u>

⁵ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2009) School Connectedness: Strategies for Increasing Protective Factors Among Youth. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

⁶ Bernard, B. (ND). The Foundations of the Resiliency Framework. Found at <u>http://www.resiliency.com/free-articles-resources/the-foundations-of-the-resiliency-framework/</u>
⁷ Ibid

Based on these findings, the workgroup included representatives from the Asian/Pacific Islander and Hispanic communities (see Table 1) among the focus group participants.

Data & Methods

To assess the Fairfax County community's concerns and suggestions, focus groups were utilized to collect data. Focus groups allow for in-depth insight into how people think and feel without the time burden of individual interviews. Additionally, the interaction of participants and non-verbal communication are two benefits of focus groups. Interaction between participants of diverse backgrounds allows individuals to make connections and pose questions they normally would not have and non-verbal communication can provide valuable insight to group dynamics in addition to specific dialogue.⁸

A total of 15 focus groups were conducted between April and October 2017. One hundred seventy-six individuals participated in the 15 focus groups (see Table 1 below for a demographic breakdown of participants). Facilitators asked local groups, communities and teen centers if they would be willing to participate in the focus groups.⁹ The focus group participants included teens, mothers, fathers, and community leaders from the Latino, Asian, African American, West African and White populations. A facilitator and note-taker then met with each group asking prescribed questions about accessing services, barriers to services, and suggested strategies for improvement.

	Number	Percent
Gender		
Male	57	32%
Female	119	68%
Race/Ethnicity		
Asian [*]	37	21%
African American/West African	69	39%
Hispanic	58	33%
White	12	7%
Age		
Youth	69	39%
Adults	107	61%
Total Participants		176

Table 1. Demographics of	Feorus Group Participants	
Table 1: Demographics of	rocus Group Participants	

*Asian includes Korean, Indian and Middle Eastern participants

⁸ Nagle, B. & Williams, N. (). Methodology brief: Introduction to focus groups. *Center for Assessment, Planning, & Accountability*.

⁹ The focus groups included several Mother's Groups; Father's Groups; Korean Leaders; Parent Café; Youth Groups; Faith Community in Action Group; and Groups from local Community Centers. The groups are not specifically identified to protect the anonymity of participants.

On average, group sessions lasted for 90 minutes and were conducted with a group facilitator and a note taker. Interpreters were used as needed for non-English speaking participants. Focus group notes were linked to the qualitative software program Atlast. Ti and coded for thematic content and/or patterns both based on questions developed by the workgroup (see Table 2) and distinct participant comments. Codes were modified and combined throughout the analysis process resulting in the broad themes discussed in the findings section below.

Table 2: Focus Group Questions

- 1. Do you think that you or someone you know has the mental health or substance abuse services you need in your community?
- 2. How do you access services?
- 3. What gets in the way of you or someone seeking mental health or substance abuse help?
- 4. Here are some barriers that have been identified? What else do you think makes things difficult in accessing services?
- 5. How do we/you overcome the things that you said were difficult in accessing help?
- 6. Do you feel the services you were provided respected your values and beliefs?
- 7. What are some solutions to make things easier for you to access mental health or substance abuse services?
- 8. Who do you go to for help for your child if they are having problems?
- 9. What are some positive experiences you have had with county service providers?

Findings

In general, analysis of the focus groups revealed several themes under each of the broader categories: access; barriers; and suggested strategies. Themes around accessing services included access through schools, religious institutions, and community centers; themes regarding barriers were in community awareness about mental health, lack of trust, overworked employees, and cultural concerns; and themes around strategies include education, community resources, and county resources

When asked "Do you think that you or someone you know has the mental health and substance abuse services needed in the community?" many participants stated yes. One participant indicated receiving support from the police and another indicated that "*Fairfax County has all the services anyone needs*." However, while services might be available, not all services are accessible.

Access

Overall participants identified various ways they or someone they know access mental health or substance abuse services. Participants indicated accessing services through schools, religious institutions, community connections (including community centers, health departments, teen centers, and cultural community), the courts, probation, or military bases.

Access Through Schools

Most participants felt that the schools "were the easiest to get to" when accessing services, with several participants indicating school mental health professionals (counselors, social workers, psychologists) as the go-to person to access services. Participants felt that

"I would feel more open to a school professional than an outside person."

"counselors [school mental health professionals] tend to lead services and are more knowledgeable" generating a feeling of comfort or at least a place to start for students and families. In addition to school mental health professionals, participants identified favorite teachers and the parent/school liaison as potential access points within the schools.

Youth participants indicated that they are close to teachers or security personnel at schools and will reach out to them if they need help.

"Kids start sharing when they go on retreats outside of church with youth pastors and Sunday School teachers, more so than with their parents."

Access Through Religious Institutions

Other participants relied on religious institutions as the entry way to the system and/or to provide the services. Asian participants specifically indicated that families and youth are more connected with their religious institution. In response to discussions about religious institutions, participants

stated that "youth pastors are under a tremendous burden," indicating a need for more resources or additional training. Other participants stated that "the clergy needs to be more vocal around this and not [be] shy around the issue. Encouraging others to get help. Participants from the faith communities recognized their roles in educating their congregations saying "We have to normalize it. Speak in the [correct] language. [It's] easy for 'us' to speak about this because we understand it." However, they also stated a need to understand their limitations and role in connecting individuals with other resources "away from the church." "Pastors are sometimes more like CEOs and do not have the connections to their communities like they used to."

Access Through Community Center

Community Centers and teen centers were mentioned as potential ways to access mental health services, with several participants specifically mentioning the Creekside Community Center, Fairfax County Teen Centers, and the Culmore Community Center.

Access Through Other Avenues

Only a few participants discussed accessing services in ways other than schools or religious institutions, with one participant expressing positive comments around services received through probation. Other participants mentioned accessing behavioral health services through general medical practitioners or pediatricians.

Barriers

Lack of Knowledge and Understanding

Participants stated that many people do not view mental health the same way as physical health. "The topic in general is not being openly discussed." However, for those participants who do want help many do not where to start. "Parents don't connect with school counselors, [believing] they are there for academics not mental health."

"The system is too big, first the school, then South County, DFS, CPS, NCS, CSP, it's too intimidating. [I] don't have the confidence to answer all the questions asked, [I] don't trust the staff and feel judged."

Many youth and adult participants commented specifically on a lack of understanding on behalf of parents indicating that parents believe that mental health concerns are *"just a phase"* or are ignorant of the issue. *"Parents don't connect to the stress of today, they expect youth to 'deal with it'."* Peers and parents can be judgmental, making it difficult for youth to come forward and seek help. One participant stated, *"People would make fun of me if I asked for help."* Another participant said *"Kids our age don't think about things like that. Not that they don't care if they have a problem but they don't want to be seen to have a problem. Sometimes when you get older people don't judge you as much but when you're young you can get bullied and stuff like that."*

"A friend took a pregnancy test and youth did not want family to know. [The] counselor called her parents and she got in trouble. We lose trust in counselors and don't know where to go."

Lack of Trust with the System

There was a general lack of trust with the system among all participants (youth and adults), especially around the ideas of confidentiality and privacy. Youth reported that there was a lack of understanding between student and counselors about what would be kept in confidence versus what would not. There were general feelings among youth that the "School does not help me, there is no confidentiality with the

counselor since the counselor has to tell my parents." In addition, participants reported that "Teachers' stigmas and perceptions [around mental health] need to be addressed" to ensure youth are receiving appropriate support. One participant stated, "might be afraid to ask, think the person will tell what you've shared, don't believe there is confidentiality."

Outside of the school environment, participants report feeling a lack of privacy when accessing services. *"People see me."* A few participants found service providers unhelpful and inconsistent in their follow up. Additionally, several participants indicated a fear of deportation due to what they hear on the news. People are *"fearful of being deported because going back to their home country is dangerous. People back there believe that individuals who are deported go back with money."*

"There are people in the community who are afraid of asking for help—afraid that the government will take their children away if parents can't care for them. I believe they instill fear in you so you won't ask for help."

Stigma/Labels of Mental Illness

Many participants spoke about the stigma associated with mental health as a barrier to seeking behavioral health services. Specifically, participants mentioned losing respect in the community if they sought mental health treatment or were known to have a mental illness. "Once you go to a therapist or a psychologist something is wrong with you." Other participants spoke about religious stigmas referring to beliefs that those with mental illness were possessed or labeled as witches within the religious communities.

"School counselors can only invest in a few students. They cannot invest a lot into many students. They are limited in what they can do."

Overworked Employees

Participants also identified overworked school counselors and employees as an additional barrier. Participants stated that students receive services but teachers don't always know what is going on with the students or how to help them, even if they were the one making the referral. Other participants stated that the counselor-to-student ratio is

an issue making it difficult to deal with anything that is not school related. Another participant stated that anxiety around testing and SOLs is not taken seriously. *"My child was passed from teacher to counselor to assistant principal and finally to the school health aide,"* but nothing was done. One youth also stated that *"Counselors are too personal, it's weird to talk to them, [I] don't feel that they are going to help. They are not going to understand, just tell you what to do."*

Cultural Concerns

Many participants spoke about specific cultural concerns that can act as barriers to accessing services. In general, participants spoke about the stigma surrounding mental health and losing respect in their community. Other participants did not feel comfortable discussing their issues because of

"It is difficult to find a therapist who knows how to take a youth's faith into consideration during the counseling experience."

cultural differences and beliefs. They do not believe it is right to discuss these issues. A few participants also mentioned the belief that medication will make them crazy.

Specifically, those participants more connected with their faith stated that many times the religious aspect of counseling is left out. Other participants seeking help through their religious institutions indicated that religion is seen as a magic bullet. *"We're told to "Just go pray, read bible verses' and "Place our reliance in God'."*

"I am frustrated that I can only speak Spanish. I called the [Mobile] Crisis line and received a call two days later because they did not have a Spanish speaker at the Mobile Crisis line at that time." Finally, most participants commented on the lack of cultural competency and diversity among service providers, including the lack of services in languages other than English (Korean and Spanish were specifically named). Participants felt that counselors need to understand the "world view" of their clientele. "Counselors do not have diversity training. Providers do not understand norms and cultures of different groups. Mental health clinicians do not represent the community. The community will not go to them."

Additional Barriers

Participants also mentioned several additional barriers such as insurance not covering behavioral health, other financial concerns, availability of services, and lack of space with private providers. One participant stated that a private provider would *"only accept cash."*

Some participants also discussed the idea that people are in survival mode and must manage all their needs. One participant described it as *"A wheel that is too scary to jump off and get help because you*

may not be able to get back on the wheel and manage daily life as a single mother with bills, kids, and other responsibilities." Several participants also discussed the availability or hours of services stating these "should be appropriate for the population trying to access it."

"You guys charge too much."

Other barriers included transportation concerns, "finding the right kind of help," and family concerns. One participant mentioned that parental mental health might prevent youth from receiving services and privacy rights prohibit other family members from intervening. Another participant stated that "One parent may not agree with getting treatment" making it difficult for the youth and rest of the family. Some youth participants also indicated that parents don't always believe them. "Parents don't acknowledge and don't believe they have a mental illness."

Suggested Strategies Education

Participants discussed education as the number one strategy. All participants indicated that parents and youth need a better understanding and awareness of mental health issues to reduce stigma and judgment. Some general suggestions included providing early education to children about mental health and substance abuse, normalizing mental health though education, educating the community about available services and raising overall awareness.

"Educating students that are facing puberty and hormonal effects and distinguish them from the effects of depression and anxiety that can happen at this time." More specific suggestions included educating youth about general mental health who in turn educate their peers. Another participant suggested "Game night with parents, youth and counselors to build understanding of mental health issues. This also allows parents to give back to the schools and the community." Educating parents is also important. "Increasing parental

involvement in understanding what is going on with their children, especially around mental health." Be cognizant about education within different cultures. "In shame-focused cultures, you don't talk about your issues. It's not about you, but you get the help indirectly. Create a video that's not your family but it is [like] your family."

Community Resources

Many participants discussed using existing community groups or creating peer groups to facilitate access to services and letting people know they are not alone in their experiences. One participant suggested *"starting a peer group to help students in need seek professionals."* Another participant stated that *"providing community groups focused on positive*

"We need to access others in the community who do not see the benefits of the Parent Café as a resource to support services."

social interaction and behavior management skills for the K to 6th grade youth and families" would be helpful as well as having community liaisons participate and bridge services between providers and the community. Participants also discussed the benefits of the "Parent Café"¹⁰ and the need to expand participation. One participant also suggested monthly meetings within religious institutions to discuss the topic of mental health openly with confidence and privacy.

Youth participants also indicated that reaching out to those who have "been through it" or asking "friends or someone they know that won't let others know and help them get past it" as possible strategies within the community. Another participant indicated that "If the help is not in a safe or familiar place, they probably won't go, that's why services in the community center is a good idea."

Improving County Resources

Several participants discussed a need to improve county resources in various areas. One participant indicated a need to improve training in empathy, interpersonal communication, cultural competency and crisis management. "When someone is in crisis, [workers] need to acknowledge our emotions first."

Some participants also felt there was a disconnect between county workers and the African American community stating a need to *"improve cultural competency of what African Americans face, not just what people from other countries face when they deal with accessing services."* One group stated that, while services were available, they lacked diversity. *"Services can address the needs of the Hispanic Community but not the African American Community."*

"Go where the kids are. Therapists should be in the schools. Have a mental health checkup/check-in day with donuts. Parents don't have to take off, don't have to worry about transportation or traffic."

Other suggestions included increasing trauma-informed providers, providing general customer service training for all county and school staff and hire mental health professionals that are diverse in gender

¹⁰ Parent Café is an innovative model that builds on protective factors that keep families strong. Parents build their own sense of competence and power by building relationships and connecting with other parents who share common experiences, successes, and challenges. DFS sponsored Parenting Education Programs (PEP) hosted Parent Café throughout the County for anyone in a parenting role who wishes to participate in weekly group meetings. Groups are parent-led with parents picking the topic of discussion for each meeting while a trained group facilitator plays a supportive role by guiding the discussion. Using speakers, parent participation and skilled facilitation Parent Café is able to address a range of topics from social-emotional development and praise to family health and domestic violence. Three non-profits partnered to host a Parent Café at their community sites, allowing PEP to reach parents who typically do not participate in formal parenting classes. During FY2017, a total of five groups were held in the South County and North County regions of Fairfax, reaching over 60 parents.

and race and represent LGBTQ communities. Additionally, youth participants indicated that more promotion about the teen centers and the various services offered would be helpful to the community.

Other Suggested Strategies

Participants also discussed other strategies that might be helpful in increasing access to services. One participant suggested having a late bus system at the school to allow youth to access counseling. Another indicated that more home-based services would be useful. Several participants mentioned the possibility of using social media to educate and treat mental health among youth.

Discussion

Several themes mentioned above warrant additional discussion. One area highlighted as a lack of trust with the system is deportation. Recent government administration and legislative changes have affected immigration and are frequently in the news. Participants indicated a fear of deportation due to what they hear on the news and that going back to their home countries can be dangerous. The workgroup reached out to several agency contacts to gain insight into the community concerns surrounding deportation and how this fear impacts access to services.

Three of the Department of Family Services' Divisions: Children, Youth and Families; Self-Sufficiency; and the Office for Children report concerns about clients not applying for services related to deportation fears. Within the past year, several instances have highlighted these concerns. Staff in DFS's Children, Youth and Families Division report two families not allowing nurses/home visitors into their homes last winter due to fears of deportation; however, no additional reports since then. In February 2017, the Self Sufficiency Division began tracking the number of requests to close a family's public assistance case due to staff concerns related to possible client deportation fears. There were 9 requests in February, 4 in March and then 1 for April and 1 for May. Since then, there have been no further requests. Self Sufficiency Division caseloads have not dropped and applications have remained steady or increased in the last few months. While deportation concerns appear to exist, it does not seem to be widespread or an indication that community members are not accessing services.¹¹ Local Agencies should continue to monitor these concerns and adjust policies when appropriate.

Another area discussed among participants was a lack of information sharing between teachers, counselors and other school personnel. Confidentiality rules for mental health providers and others may be affecting this information sharing. Further research should focus on identifying ways to combat these barriers. In addition, some participants mentioned going to teachers or school officials for help while others cited a mistrust of school. This could be due to personal preferences and/or cultural differences. However, even with some participants indicating a mistrust of school personnel, the number one access point to behavioral health care was through the schools.

Recommendations

Overall, the focus group participants expressed a variety of opinions and shared valuable feedback with facilitators. Many referenced accessing mental health services through schools or religious institutions.

¹¹ Fairfax County Department of Family Services, Cross Division Services

Primary barriers to accessing services included lack of trust, lack of knowledge, cultural concerns, and overworked employees. Areas for possible improvement primarily focused on education of youth and parents, increasing access (location, transportation, proximity, etc.) and knowledge of community resources and improving county customer service (i.e. training).

Recommendations fall within three larger categories: Therapeutic, Prevention and Marketing/Outreach. Some recommendations are applicable and reach all underserved populations and others are more targeted to specific groups.

Therapeutic

Therapeutic recommendations include a continued focus on building competencies amongst behavioral health professionals (county and private) in evidence based treatment models such as Cognitive Behavioral Therapy, Trauma Focused Cognitive Behavioral Therapy, Dialectical Behavioral Therapy, and Motivational Interviewing (see Evidence-Based Practices Workgroup's final recommendations for additional information on these treatment models). Specific recommendations include increasing **Trauma Informed Individual and Family Mental Health Counseling** to Latino youth in underserved areas in our community, possibilities include Culmore, Springfield or Herndon through the expansion of Violence Prevention and Intervention Program (VPIP) at Northern Virginia Family Services (NVFS).

Culturally competent, language specific trauma-recovery mental health services are integrated into the home, school or community setting based on assessment and the family's needs. Bilingual, bicultural counseling services are designed to strategically focus on problem resolution and skill building. Services are provided within the school, community, home or office, based on client preference and access needs. To effectively provide services to youth in both the community and school-based setting, time spent coordinating the various parties is essential to a cohesive, well communicated effort. NVFS' Mental Health Counselors therefore work with school personnel, parents and community-based staff on cases to facilitate treatment goals, referrals and emergency services. Even deeper investigation of specific culturally competent treatment approaches needs to occur to expand our therapeutic intervention options with our underserved populations. In addition, further outreach to and more discussion with current treatment providers to our underserved populations needs to take place. There are three recommended approaches to accommodate an increase in cultural competence in a therapeutic setting: The Cultural Formulation Framework (CFI), the Multi-Dimensional Ecological Comparative Approach (MECA) and Shared-Decision Making.

The Cultural Formulation Framework (CFI) is a set of 14 questions developed by the American Psychiatric Association and DSM-5 Cross Cultural and Issues Subgroup¹² and can be used across all settings (see Appendix B). CFI relies on the idea that most individuals are part of multiple cultures used to develop their identities and attempts to clarify the contribution of "culture" by assessing the client's view point. CFI assesses 4 domains: cultural definition of the problem, cultural perceptions of the cause, context and support, cultural factors affecting self-coping and past help seeking and current help

¹² DeSilva, R., Aggarwal, N.K. & Lewis-Fernadez, R. (2015). The DSM-5 cultural formulation interview and evolution of cultural assessment in psychiatry. *Psychiatric Times. 32(6)* Retrieved from http://www.psychiatrictimes.com/special-reports/dsm-5-cultural-formulation-interview-and-evolution-cultural-assessment-psychiatry

seeking. The information gathered through the framework enhances the cultural validity of the diagnostic assessment, facilitates treatment planning and promotes client engagement and satisfaction.¹³

The Multi-Dimensional Ecological Comparative Approach (MECA) defines culture as multidimensional and fluid with varying access to ecological resources.¹⁴ Similar to CFI discussed above, MECA operates under the belief that all individuals are multicultural belonging to and participating in multiple cultural and contextual groups. The client is the expert in defining their culture. MECA focuses on 4 major domains: migration and acculturation, ecological context, family organization, and family life cycle. However, MECA indicates that culture-specifics should not be the sole focus of concern for assessment and clinical practice but rather consider universals or idiosyncratic histories, culture-specific aspects (ethnic values, religious rituals), and each ecological niche.¹⁵

Tying in with both CFI and MECA above, **Shared-Decision Making** is another framework used within the medical¹⁶, education¹⁷ and behavioral health¹⁸ fields to address cultural relevance across groups. Based on the concept of self-determination the model has 3 steps: 1) introducing choice; 2) describing options, often by integrating the use of client decision support, and providing high quality information, asking what they already know, and assessing whether it is correct, and 3) helping clients explore preferences and make decisions by exploring their reactions to information.¹⁹ The model depends on a positive relationship between client and therapist and respecting what matters most to the client as individuals.

In addition to the frameworks discussed above, we recommend a more **flexible delivery model** allowing for therapy services to be delivered either in-home or in settings closer to clients' community. These services could be embedded in nearby community centers (e.g. Culmore, Springfield Family Resource Center), houses of worship or schools.

Several cultural specific therapeutic approaches are also recommended including Cuerto/Dichos Therapy, Family Adelante, Nosotras, and Therapy for Black Girls. A culturally modified trauma-focused treatment for Latino youth, **Cuerto/Dichos Therapy** uses the concepts of Machismo, Marianismo, Familismo, Personalismo, Fatalismo, Dichos & Suentos, and Spirituality. Specifically, this treatment model uses folktales and Spanish proverbs to discuss acceptable behavior and moral messages as well as

¹³ ibid

¹⁴ Falicov, C. J. (2017). Multidimensional Ecosystemic Comparative Approach (MECA). In Encyclopedia of Couple and Family Therapy. Eds J.L. Lebow et al. Springer International Publishing.

¹⁵ ibid

¹⁶ Godolphin, W. (2009). Shared decision making. Healthcare Quarterly, 29(Sp). Retrieved from <u>http://healthcarequarterly.com/content/20947</u>

¹⁷ Liontos, L. B. (1993). Shared decision-making. OSSC Bulletin, 37(2).

¹⁸ Joosten, E.A.G., DeFuentes-Merillas, L., de Weert, G.H., Sensky, T., van der Staak, C.P.F. & de Jong, C.A.J. (2008). Systematic review of the effects of shared decision making on patient satisfaction, treatment adherence and health status. *Psychotherapy & Psychosomatics, 77*, 219-226. Retrieved from <u>https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/61ed/c4ea9f50e7b3444282978dc25ef63d40416f.pdf</u>

¹⁹ ibid

allow clients to more easily express themselves.²⁰ Research shows Cuerto/Dichos Therapy reduces anxiety and depression in youth. Another service targeting the Latino population is **Familia Adelante** operating via word of mouth which validates the value of services to the families. The program identifies gaps in services for low to moderate income target populations and develops partnerships to provide those services including utilizing public/private partners, corporations, government, business, and volunteers.²¹ **Nosotras** is a program for pregnant Latina women that identifies and eliminates barriers to reduce stress and anxiety, addresses risk factors associated with use/abuse of drugs, alcohol, tobacco and other drugs. Their services include interpretation, translation and access to health care services.²²

Therapy for Black Girls targets the African American Community and provides an online space dedicated to encouraging the mental wellness of Black women and girls. The site presents mental health topics in a way that feels more accessible and relevant.²³ The site also provides a nationwide list of Black women therapists that you can connect to online or face to face including therapists in the Northern Virginia Area.

Prevention

Prevention efforts should include a multilayered approach addressing the systems and structures, including our own, that disproportionately affect youth as well as meet the needs of youth and their families as it relates to mental health treatment. Specifically, we recommend the continuation of **Restorative Justice Practices** in schools and juvenile justice agencies and out of school time settings for youth.

Secondly, we recommend funding additional opportunities for **Youth Mental Health First Aid** training for faith/youth leaders. Youth Mental Health First Aid is an 8-hour public education program which introduces participants to the unique risk factors and warning signs of mental health problems in adolescents, builds understanding of the importance of early intervention, and teaches individuals how to help an adolescent in crisis or experiencing a mental health challenge. In the most recent budget cycle, the Children's Behavioral Health Collaborative (CBHC) Management Team approved funding for this effort. In addition, the Community Services Board (CSB) subsequently received additional funding to cover costs.

In addition, we recommend the **incorporation of credible messenger programs** that seek to reduce stigma and provide support for youth across cultures. For example, "The Representation Project: The

 ²⁰ Aviera, A. (2002). Culturally sensitive and creative therapy with Latino clients. *California Psychologist*, *35*(4), 18 25. Retrieved from http://www.apadivisions.org/division-31/publications/articles/california/aviera.pdf

²¹ Cervantes, R., Goldbach, J., & Santos, S. M. (2011). Familia Adelante: A multi-risk prevention intervention for Latino families. *The journal of primary prevention*, *32*(3-4), 225. Retrieved from

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3205946/pdf/nihms-326426.pdf

²² <u>https://www.adelantetoledo.org/family-programs/</u>

²³ <u>https://www.therapyforblackgirls.com/</u>

Mask You Live In^{"24} is a film that follows boys and young men of color as they struggle to stay true to themselves while negotiating America's narrow definition of masculinity.

Other prevention efforts include **community partnerships** such as "Brother You're on My Mind." A partnership between the National Institute on Minority Health & Health Disparities (NIMHD)²⁵ and Omega Psi Phi Fraternity, Inc., the initiative raises awareness of the mental health challenges associated with depression and stress that affect African American men.²⁶ The partnership provides a free train the trainer program to educate faith and social communities around mental illness.

Additional recommended prevention efforts include the **use of technology** to reach youth and their families. For example, the "notOK App^{™"27} was developed by teens for teens dealing with mental health issues. A youth suffering from a condition causing her to faint developed the application while suffering from depression and anxiety. The App allows users to press a button that sends a text message to up to five preselected contacts with the following statement: "Hey, I'm not OK. Please call me, text me, or come find me." There is also a link to the user's current GPS location that is sent along with the message. The app has just recently been released with an iOS and Android version for \$2.99 per month. Additional apps were discovered during our work and a beginning review of the use of tele-psychiatry occurred. Both areas require more a focused examination and recommendations for their use.

Finally, prevention efforts need to continue to address stigma reduction. A review of the Change Direction.org campaign or a similarly effective one and it's across the county implementation needs to be explored further. Like tobacco and heart disease campaigns of yesteryear, if possible, we need to land on a "unifying" message that can be repeated far and wide across our community in a timely, effective messaging way, using social media, mailers, iPhone, videos, etc.

Marketing/Outreach

In general, members of the Faith Community, Fraternity or Sororities and Civic and Social Organizations should be engaged in getting the message out as well as assisting with the recruitment of service providers as appropriate. Additionally, messages around behavioral health should be distributed through culturally specific newspaper/online advertisements (local community papers, church newsletters, blogs, social media), flyers at places of business within the targeted communities, and radio advertisements (See Appendix C for a list of possible newspapers, local businesses and radio stations). Other potential avenues to increase community awareness of existing county services should include marketing campaigns targeted to child, youth, and family specific behavioral health and medical professionals and for- and non-profits.

Conclusion

In conclusion, this workgroup defined underserved populations; identified strengths and barriers to behavioral health and provided recommendations to address these barriers. This workgroup has put

²⁴ <u>http://therepresentationproject.org</u>

²⁵ <u>https://www.nimhd.nih.gov/</u>

²⁶ https://www.nimhd.nih.gov/programs/edu-training/byomm/

²⁷ <u>https://www.notokapp.com/our-team/</u>

forth two specific proposals to implement and expand Trauma Informed Individual and Family Mental Health Counseling and Youth Mental Health First Aid training (see recommendations above).

In addition, the workgroup completed an analysis of recommendations using Fairfax County's Juvenile and Domestic Relations Court Race Equity Bench Card. This analysis provided insight as to the need for an internal review of county agencies, non-profit private providers', and school systems' policies, procedures and practices with an equity lens. This review should include an evaluation regarding the presence or absence of quality control measures and accountability practices to the creation of barriers for our children, youth and families in accessing children's behavioral health treatment. That selfexamination could also include developing a "master plan approach" or "roadmap", beyond the Blueprint, for the provision of children's behavioral health services to our county residents with appropriate linkages and clearly defined roads to collaboration.

We also recognized that youth experiencing "transition periods," be it in relationships, family living arrangements, moving from elementary to middle school, middle to high school, or high school to college are particularly at-risk groups. And finally, the involvement of youth and parents directly in the discussion/planning process and education/information dissemination process is imperative and one we need to improve.

We acknowledge that the next phase of work may require the continuation of this workgroup with additional members due to the breadth and depth of the recommendations. Additional workgroups may also be needed to further develop recommendations, assess feasibility, resources, capacity, funding, and partnerships for the strategies enumerated above. We recommend that CBHC Management Team consider this information alongside recommendations from other workgroups to assess next steps for implementation. With the support and endorsement of the CBHC Management Team, this workgroup is willing to continue working on these issues.

Appendix A: Reports Reviewed

- 1. Center for the Study of Social Policy (2012) Disproportionate Minority Contact for African American and Hispanic Youth
- 2. Equitable Growth Profile of Fairfax County: 2015
- 3. Fairfax County 2016 Youth Survey
- 4. Fairfax County Human Services, 2016 Needs Assessment Summary
- 5. Fairfax County Health Department, Cultural and Religious Beliefs about Mental Illness
- 6. Fairfax County Department of Neighborhood and Community Services, Coordinated Services Planning Density of Basic Needs Requests Maps
- 7. Fairfax County Juvenile and Domestic Relations District Court, Miscellaneous Statistical Reports
- 8. Fairfax County Public Schools, Strategic Plan
- 9. Virginia Department of Juvenile Justice (2011), Study of Disproportionate Minority Contact

Appendix B: Cultural Formulation Interview (CFI)

Cultural Formulation Interview (CFI)

Supplementary modules used to expand each CFI subtopic are noted in parentheses.

GUIDE TO INTERVIEWER	INSTRUCTIONS TO THE INTERVIEWER ARE ITALICIZED.
The following questions aim to clarify key aspects of the presenting clinical problem from the point of view of the individual and other members of the individual's social network (i.e., family, friends, or others involved in current problem). This includes the problem's meaning, potential sources of help, and expectations for services.	<i>INTRODUCTION FOR THE INDIVIDUAL:</i> I would like to understand the problems that bring you here so that I can help you more effectively. I want to know about your experience and ideas. I will ask some questions about what is going on and how you are dealing with it. Please remember there are no right or wrong an- swers.

CULTURAL DEFINITION OF THE PROBLEM

CULTURAL DEFINITION OF THE PROBLEM		
(Explanatory Model, Level of Functioning)		
 Elicit the individual's view of core problems and key concerns. Focus on the individual's own way of understanding the problem. Use the term, expression, or brief description elicited in question 1 to identify the problem in subsequent questions (e.g., "your conflict with your son"). 	1. What brings you here today? <i>IF INDIVIDUAL GIVES FEW DETAILS OR ONLY MENTIONS</i> <i>SYMPTOMS OR A MEDICAL DIAGNOSIS, PROBE:</i> People often understand their problems in their own way, which may be similar to or different from how doctors describe the problem. How would <i>you</i> describe your problem?	
Ask how individual frames the problem for members of the social network.	2. Sometimes people have different ways of describing their problem to their family, friends, or others in their community. How would you describe your problem to them?	
Focus on the aspects of the problem that matter most to the individual.	3. What troubles you most about your problem?	

CULTURAL PERCEPTIONS OF CAUSE, CONTEXT, AND SUPPORT

	Causes
(Explanatory Model, Social Network, Older Adults)	
This question indicates the meaning of the condition for the individual, which may be relevant for clinical care.	4. Why do you think this is happening to you? What do you think are the causes of your [PROBLEM]?
Note that individuals may identify multiple causes, de- pending on the facet of the problem they are consid- ering.	PROMPT FURTHER IF REQUIRED: Some people may explain their problem as the result of bad things that happen in their life, problems with others, a physical illness, a spiritual reason, or many other causes.
Focus on the views of members of the individual's social network. These may be diverse and vary from the indi- vidual's.	5. What do others in your family, your friends, or others in your com- munity think is causing your [PROBLEM]?

STRESSORS AND SUPPORTS

(Social Network, Caregivers, Psychosocial Stressors, Religion and Spirituality, Immigrants and Refugees, Cultural Identity, Older Adults, Coping and Help Seeking)

Elicit information on the individual's life context, focusing on resources, social supports, and resilience. May also probe other supports (e.g., from co-workers, from participation in religion or spirituality).	6.	Are there any kinds of support that make your [PROBLEM] better, such as support from family, friends, or others?
Focus on stressful aspects of the individual's environ- ment. Can also probe, e.g., relationship problems, difficulties at work or school, or discrimination.	7.	Are there any kinds of stresses that make your [PROBLEM] worse, such as difficulties with money, or family problems?

ROLE OF CULTURAL IDENTITY

(Cultural Identity, Psychosocial Stressors, Religion and Spirituality, Immigrants and Refugees, Older Adults, Children and Adolescents)

	Sometimes, aspects of people's background or identity can make their [PROBLEM] better or worse. By background or identity , I mean, for example, the communities you belong to, the languages you speak, where you or your family are from, your race or ethnic background, your gender or sexual orientation, or your faith or reli- gion.
Ask the individual to reflect on the most salient elements of his or her cultural identity. Use this information to tailor questions 9–10 as needed.	8. For you, what are the most important aspects of your background or identity?
Elicit aspects of identity that make the problem better or worse.Probe as needed (e.g., clinical worsening as a result of discrimination due to migration status, race/ethnicity, or sexual orientation).	9. Are there any aspects of your background or identity that make a difference to your [PROBLEM]?
Probe as needed (e.g., migration-related problems; conflict across generations or due to gender roles).	10. Are there any aspects of your background or identity that are causing other concerns or difficulties for you?

CULTURAL FACTORS AFFECTING SELF-COPING AND PAST HELP SEEKING

 SELF-COPING

 (Coping and Help Seeking, Religion and Spirituality, Older Adults, Caregivers, Psychosocial Stressors)

 Clarify self-coping for the problem.
 11. Sometimes people have various ways of dealing with problems like [PROBLEM]. What have you done on your own to cope with your [PROBLEM]?

PAST HELP SEEKING (Coping and Help Seeking, Religion and Spirituality, Older Adults, Caregivers, Psychosocial Stressors, Immigrants and Refugees, Social Network, Clinician-Patient Relationship) Elicit various sources of help (e.g., medical care, mental 12. Often, people look for help from many different sources, including health treatment, support groups, work-based coundifferent kinds of doctors, helpers, or healers. In the past, what kinds seling, folk healing, religious or spiritual counseling, of treatment, help, advice, or healing have you sought for your other forms of traditional or alternative healing). [PROBLEM]? Probe as needed (e.g., "What other sources of help PROBE IF DOES NOT DESCRIBE USEFULNESS OF HELP REhave you used?"). CEIVED: Clarify the individual's experience and regard for pre-What types of help or treatment were most useful? Not useful? vious help. BARRIERS (Coping and Help Seeking, Religion and Spirituality, Older Adults, Psychosocial Stressors, Immigrants and Refugees, Social Network, Clinician-Patient Relationship) Clarify the role of social barriers to help seeking, access 13. Has anything prevented you from getting the help you need? to care, and problems engaging in previous treatment. PROBE AS NEEDED: Probe details as needed (e.g., "What got in the way?"). For example, money, work or family commitments, stigma or discrimination, or lack of services that understand your language or background?

CULTURAL FACTORS AFFECTING CURRENT HELP SEEKING

PREFERENCES (Social Network, Caregivers, Religion and Spirituality, Older Adults, Coping and Help Seeking) Clarify individual's current perceived needs and ex-Now let's talk some more about the help you need. pectations of help, broadly defined. 14. What kinds of help do you think would be most useful to you at this Probe if individual lists only one source of help (e.g., time for your [PROBLEM]? "What other kinds of help would be useful to you at this time?"). 15. Are there other kinds of help that your family, friends, or other people Focus on the views of the social network regarding help seeking. have suggested would be helpful for you now? **CLINICIAN-PATIENT RELATIONSHIP** (Clinician-Patient Relationship, Older Adults) Elicit possible concerns about the clinic or the clini-Sometimes doctors and patients misunderstand each other because cian-patient relationship, including perceived racism, they come from different backgrounds or have different expectations. language barriers, or cultural differences that may 16. Have you been concerned about this and is there anything that we undermine goodwill, communication, or care delivery. can do to provide you with the care you need? Probe details as needed (e.g., "In what way?"). Address possible barriers to care or concerns about the clinic and the clinician-patient relationship raised previously.

Appendix C: List of Radio Stations, Newspapers, and Local Businesses

Faith Community

- Korean Central Presbyterian
- St Paul Chung Catholic Church
- Fairfax Korean Church
- First Asian Indian Presbyterian church
- Seoul Presbyterian Church
- Fairfax Baptist Temple
- Northern Virginia Chinese Christian Church

Newspaper

- Sing Tao Daily
- o Inside NOVA
- Fall Church New Press
- Diverse: issues in Higher Education
- India Abroad: Newsletter <u>https://www.indiaabroad.com/indian-americans/desi-radio-</u> stations-target-growing-community/article_a4e9258c-5879-11e7-94e9-6b08562bb03a.html

Local Businesses

- Lotte Plaza Market
- o H Mart
- Manila Oriental Market
- Patel Brothers

Radio

- o India Abroad: WDCT-AM 1310, Sunday, 12 p.m. to 2 p.m
- South Asian: 8K Radio EBC- Frequency 1170 AM & 97.1 FM HD2
- Zindagi- web only <u>http://radiozindagi.com/virginiaw</u>
- o Korean 1310 AM
- China radio international -1190 Am